Burns as a model of SIRS

Punam Dahiya

Food and Veterinary Administration, Agri-Food and Veterinary Authority of Singapore, 5 Maxwell Road, #02-03, Tower Block, MND Complex, Singapore 069110

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Animal models of burns and associated SIRS
 - 3.1. Rodent models (mice, rats)
 - 3.2. Large animal models {porcine (pig, miniature pig)}
 - 3.3. Standardized experimental burn injury models
 - 3.3.1. Scalding in mice
 - 3.3.2. Scalding in rats
 - 3.3.3. Scalding in pig
 - 3.3.4. Thermal burn by direct contact in rats
 - 3.3.5. Thermal burn based on skin contact with a glass chamber in rats
 - 3.3.6. Thermal burn by direct contact in pig
- 4. Mediators of burns-associated sirs identified using animal models
- 5. Summary and perspective
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Thermal injury following burns is a common clinical condition. Excessive systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) following burns leads to distant organ damage and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS). Development of in vivo experimental models of burns over the past 50 years have facilitated the study of the effects of thermal injury on physiological and immunological parameters in the pathogenesis of burns and associated systemic organ damage. Using these models, researchers have established the critical role played by inflammatory mediators such as TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-2 and substance P in burns and associated systemic organ damage. The rationale of this chapter is to present an overview of different experimental animal models, both rodents as well as large animals, of burns and associated SIRS and the role of inflammatory mediators in the pathogenesis of this condition as well as in pathogenesis of the resultant MODS.

2. INTRODUCTION

Despite improved prognosis, increased morbidity and mortality still remain major concerns in burns. Not only do they cause accidental death, they also result in considerable morbidity and disfigurement leading to significant functional and social impairment. The result of multiple clinical and animal studies have established that the initial immune response to serious injury is inflammatory, often referred to clinically as the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) (1-3). The activation of a pro-inflammatory cascade after burn injury appears to be important in the development of subsequent immune dysfunction, susceptibility to sepsis, development of SIRS and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS), which primarily contribute to morbidity and mortality in severe burn injuries.

Over the years, researchers have developed a wide variety of animal models (in rodents as well as in

large animals) and using these models; have identified several inflammatory mediators that contribute to burn associated SIRS. These models have enabled us to study the effect of burn injury on physiological and immunological parameters. Burn injury induces immune dysfunction and impacts numerous physiological parameters. Burn injury of sufficient magnitude causes extensive tissue damage resulting in many physiological alterations including hepatic synthesis of acute phase protein, dysfunctional temperature regulation, fever in the absence of infection, hemostatic changes, muscle wasting associated with negative nitrogen balance and hyperglycemia (4). This hypermetabolic response, often called the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), concerns excessive whole body inflammation (5) and is considered a major determinant in the development of multiple organ dysfunction, often with a lethal result (6). Burn injury of the skin results in a local release of inflammatory mediators that might initiate the systemic inflammatory cascade (7).

The complete pathophysiology of burn injury is not completely understood. To gain a better understanding of the mechanisms of altered tissue responses in thermal injury and associated SIRS, there is a need of an animal model that adequately reflects the various aspects of burn pathology besides being reliable and reproducible. A standardized animal model of burns is important to study the indicators of mortality and morbidity. Previous burn injury studies have suggested different methods of creating a burn model using various animal species.

Majority of what is known about burn injury and associated SIRS has been learned from studies with animal models, primarily mice, rats and pigs. Animal models play a pivotal role in the discovery of mediators of systemic organ damage and potential therapeutic targets for this condition thereby furthering biomedical advances. Success of any research endeavor depends to a great extent on the proper selection of the animal model for these studies.

3. ANIMAL MODELS OF BURNS AND ASSOCIATED SIRS

Choice of species can have a major impact on outcomes. Selection of an animal model depends on a number of factors including availability, cost, ease of handling, investigator's familiarity anatomical/functional similarity to humans. Many models of burn injury are described in literature but each model is ultimately judged by its ability to predict how a treatment will behave in a human burn injury (under clinical conditions). A good burn model is one that is simple, safe. reproducible and reliable. It should create burns that are consistent in their extent and depth. For an experimental burn model to be homologated and considered comparable, it should be reproducible by other researchers, consistent in results, simple in performance and if possible, low in cost. Any description of an animal model (8) should include the instruments used to create the burns, the temperature and duration of exposure and the method of applying thermal injury. For researchers to compare various new therapies for burns, it is important to ensure that the agents are being used on similar types and extents of injury. In experimental animals, burn injury models make it possible to control the extent of tissue damage by adjusting the area and depth of burn injury (9). Using these basic criteria, several models of burns injury and associated SIRS both in rodents and large animals have been described in the literature. An overview of these methods is outlined below.

3.1. Rodent models (mice, rats)

Small mammals like mouse, rat, guinea pig and rabbit are frequently used in burn studies, as they are inexpensive and easy to handle. Despite these advantages, these small mammals differ from humans in a number of anatomical and physiological properties. For example, these mammals have a dense layer of body hair, thin epidermis and dermis and the main difference is that they heal primarily through wound contraction as opposed to reepithelialisation.

Mouse is an excellent model for studying the immune dysfunction post-burn as its immune system is well characterised. Rodent burn injury models have varied significantly with regard to the source as well as size of the injury. Clinical studies have shown a strong correlation between burn size and mortality, with increasing burn size being associated with higher mortality rates, irrespective of age. Studies using a murine system have continually demonstrated suppression of cell-mediated immune responses post-burn and increased susceptibility to subsequent septic complications and mortality (10-13). Murine models have also helped demonstrate that expression of a hyperactive macrophage phenotype, which is associated with the increased productive capacity for inflammatory mediators, has been implicated in burns and subsequent sepsis (14-16).

The most frequently used animal for the study of burns is Wistar rat due to its availability, low cost, resistance to infections and the feasibility of reproducing different types of burns. The Sprague Dawley (SD) rat, a common choice for other studies, is more susceptible to respiratory tract infections than the Wistar rat. Rabbits have a higher risk of infection than rats and therefore require much more care in their manipulation including sterile conditions. The price of rabbits is approximately ten times higher than rats, which increase the burden on limited financial resources.

Scalding is the easiest mechanism of provoking an experimental dermal burn. The possibility of varying water temperature, time of exposure and the burned area makes this method ideal for reproducing almost every kind of thermal aggression. Electrical burns usually require higher animals like monkeys to achieve lesions comparable to those observed in humans. Constant temperature water scald burn models have been created in several strains of mice (17).

3.2. Large animal models {porcine (pig, miniature pig)}

Pigs are now being used with increased frequency as experimental animals and play a vitally important role in burn studies. Biomedical research requires a suitable animal model that allows for human-related

validation of valuable research information gathered from experimentation with lower mammals. The pig has been favored over other animals for studying cutaneous burns due to several reasons. First, of all mammals, the skin of the pig most closely resembles that of humans. The cornified layer and epidermis of the pig is relatively thick, similar to that of the human (18, 19). Pig epidermis ranges from 30 to 140 μm and the human's from 50 to 120 μm with a dermal-epidermal thickness ratio in pigs ranging from 10:1 to13:1 which is similar to comparable measurements of human skin (20). Its sparsely haired coat is also similar to that found in most humans, although the hair shafts are coarser than typical terminal hair in humans. Other similarities between porcine and human skin include epidermal enzyme patterns, epidermal tissue turnover time. the keratinous proteins, and the composition of the lipid film of the skin surface.

Secondly, pigs are of a large enough size to allow creation of multiple burn sites on the same pig, thus increasing the sample size without significantly increasing the cost. The large size also allows creation of multiple burns in each individual pig without resulting in a systemic stress response. Thirdly, young pigs are highly resistant to contamination and infection. This quality offers an advantage specifically for burn studies, as the administration of antibiotics might affect the results of the treatments given. Also, porcine dermal collagen is biochemically similar to human dermal collagen. Both man and pig heal through physiologically similar processes (21) and close partial thickness burns through reepithelisation.

Despite many similarities between humans and pigs, certain facts relating to pigs cannot be overlooked while choosing the animal model for your research. Pigs are comparatively expensive and require additional manpower necessary during procedures to administer general anesthesia. Generally they do not form blisters between the epidermis and dermis as in humans making it difficult to recognize second-degree burns. The pigs tend to gain weight very fast. The study of burns is consummated normally over a period of two weeks (reepithelialisation period of partial-thickness burns) and by that time the management of the grown pigs becomes quite difficult.

As a biomedical research model, the domestic pig has physiological similarities to man, but the size and weight of this animal often makes it difficult to handle and house for laboratory purposes. To overcome this drawback, miniature pigs have been developed. The miniature pig with its great anatomical and physiological similarities to humans, offers several breeding and handling advantages, compared to dogs and non-human primates, making it a preferred choice for pre-clinical experimentation. The adult mini-pig weighs approximately 70 kilograms, about the size of an average person. Its body size, skeletal size, skin, teeth, gastrointestinal tract, heart position and blood supply are strikingly similar to humans and can be handled under laboratory conditions, in appropriate cages and climate controlled facilities. However, because of their high cost, special anesthetic and post-operative care requirements, mini-pigs are not considered ideal research animals. Studies performed on mini-pigs are accepted by most of the regulatory authorities. They are mentioned in the guidelines of the OECD, Japanese Ministry of Health and Welfare, Canadian Health and Welfare and United States FDA.

3.3. Standardized experimental burn injury models 3.3.1. Scalding in mice (22)

Under general anesthesia the mouse, the dorsum is shaved with electric clippers to ensure even burn wounding. The mouse is placed on its back in a template constructed of plastic and a metal screen. The mouse and template are immersed together into a 100°C water bath for 8 sec to inflict full thickness burn in the area of the metal screen.

3.3.2. Scalding in rats (23)

After anesthetization of the rat, an electric shaver is used to expose a cutaneous surface on the back constituting 30% of total body surface area (TBSA). The rat is then placed on its back in a moldable metal wire cage which is a modification of that described by Walker (24). The shaved dorsal area is submerged for 12 sec in water at 70°C to inflict a deep dermal burn in the entire cutaneous area exposed.

3.3.3. Scalding in pig

Heated or boiling water is circulated over the area to be injured. The advantage of this method is its ability to cover uniformly an entire area of skin. The main disadvantage is that it is technically more challenging and poses a risk of burning to the researcher. Constant temperature water scald burn models have been created in pigs (25).

3.3.4. Thermal burn by direct contact in rats (26)

After shaving the back of the animal, a copper disk (diameter 4 cm) heated to 250°C is applied to the skin as many times as necessary to burn the desired surface area. The drawback of this method being that it is almost impossible to obtain a burn of uniform depth.

3.3.5. Thermal burn based on skin contact with a glass chamber in rats (27)

In this method water circulates at a predetermined temperature through the glass chamber. This allows application at a constant pressure of 10 g/CM2. The advantage of this method is the possibility of varying temperature and exposure time as required.

3.3.6. Thermal burn by direct contact in pig (28)

After anesthetization of the pig, the dorsum is shaved with electric clippers. The burns are created with a 2.5 cm x 2.5 cm by 7 cm, 150-g aluminium or brass bar equilibrated in 80°C water for 5 minutes and then applied to the skin for 20 seconds to create partial thickness burns.

4. MEDIATORS OF BURNS-ASSOCIATED SIRS IDENTIFIED USING ANIMAL MODELS

Although it is known that cytokines tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and interleukin 6 (IL-6) are involved in the hypermetabolic host

response to thermal injury, the exact cytokine response is poorly understood. Various kinds of trauma are influenced by various kinds of stress (29) resulting in a wide-ranging post-injury cytokine response at various times. Due to this reason, despite multiple investigations, no consistent pattern of cytokine response is available. Also, there is sparse information concerning the early development of acute response phase under thermal injury stress (30)

Various inflammation models have shown that inflammation-related cytokines work in sequence (31,32) and IL-1 is the first cytokine to appear in systemic circulation in the inflammatory cascade followed by TNF- α and IL-6. Potential sources of cytokines in thermal injury include neutrophils (33), phagocytic cells (34), lymph nodes (35,36), hepatocytes (36) and uninjured skin (37,38).

Dynamic changes in the circulating levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 implicate the role of these cytokines in the early response to thermal injury. Burn injury has been shown to cause augmented TLR2- and TLR4-induced TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 production by splenocytes and in particular, macrophages in C57BL/10SnJ mouse (39).

In one study, sham- or burn-injured mice were treated with various doses of staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA), and then observed for their cytokine response. The assessment of serum cytokine levels demonstrated significantly elevated IL-2 and TNF- α levels when compared to sham mice. *In vitro* studies confirmed *in vivo* results and also demonstrated elevated levels of interferon gamma (IFN γ). These authors also observed a novel injury-dependent switch from CD4+ to CD8+ T-cells as the dominant T-cell type producing TNF- α and IFN γ in response to SEA stimulation *in vitro*. Taken together, these findings indicated that injury primes the immune system for an augmented early T-cell response that can result in a lethal shock-like syndrome (40).

In another study in the mouse, topical p38 MAPK inhibition was shown to significantly reduce burn wound inflammatory signaling and subsequent systemic expression of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. In vitro macrophage functional assays demonstrated a significant attenuation in serum inflammatory mediators from animals receiving the topical inhibitor. Topical p38 MAPK inhibition resulted in significantly less pulmonary inflammatory response via reduction of pulmonary neutrophil sequestration, pulmonary cytokine expression, and a significant reduction in pulmonary microvascular injury and edema formation. Although dermal activating transcription factor-2, a downstream p38 MAPK target, was significantly reduced, there was no reduction in pulmonary activating transcription factor-2 expression, arguing against significant systemic absorption of the topical inhibitor. These experiments demonstrated a strong interaction between dermal inflammation and systemic inflammatory response. Attenuating local inflammatory signaling appears effective in reducing SIRS and subsequent systemic complications after burn injury (41).

In a recent study, the tachykinin peptide substance P (SP) has been identified as a key mediator of burn injury associated SIRS. Results in this study show that burn injury in male BALB/c mice subjected to 30% total body surface area full thickness burn augments significant production of SP, preprotachykinin-A gene expression, which encodes for SP, and biological activity of SPneurokinin-1 receptor (NK1R) signaling. Furthermore, the enhanced SP-NK1R response correlates with exacerbated lung damage after burn as evidenced by increased microvascular permeability, edema, and neutrophil accumulation. The development of heightened inflammation and lung damage was observed along with increased proinflammatory IL-1β, TNF-α, and IL-6 mRNA and protein production after injury in lung. Chemokines MIP-2 and MIP-1α were markedly increased, suggesting the active role of SP-induced chemoattractants production in trafficking inflammatory cells. More importantly, administration of L703606, a specific NK1R antagonist, 1 h before burn injury significantly disrupted the SP-NK1R signaling and reversed pulmonary inflammation and injury. These findings show for the first time the role of SP in contributing to exaggerated pulmonary inflammatory damage after burn injury via activation of NK1R signaling

5. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

Recent reports have identified various inflammatory mediators that contribute to SIRS following burn injury. Pharmacological modulation with anti-inflammatory drugs may serve as an effective strategy for prevention of tissue injury and organ dysfunction as a result of burn injury. Animal models of burn injury and associated SIRS are playing a key role in the identification of these mediators and potential therapeutic targets. It is appropriate to say that some of the medical advances that we take for granted today, would not have been possible without animal models.

6. REFERENCES

- 1. Bone R.C. Toward an epidemiology and natural history of SIRS (systemic inflammatory response syndrome) *JAMA*. 268, 3452-3455 (1992)
- 2. Deitch E.A. Multiple organ failure. Pathophysiology and potential future therapy. *Ann. Surg.* 216, 117-134 (1992)
- 3. Mannick J.A., M.L. Rodrick, & J.A. Lederer. The immunologic response to injury. *J. Am. Coll. Surg.* 193, 237-244 (2001)
- 4. Wolfe R.R., M.J. Durkot, & M.H. Wolfe. Effect of thermal injury on energy metabolism, substrate kinetics and hormonal concentrations. *Circ Shock*, 9, 383-394 (1982)
- 5. Nuytinck H.K.S., X.J. Offermans, & K. Kubat. Wholebody inflammation in trauma patients: an autopsy study. *Arch Surg.* 123, 1517-1522 (1988)

- 6. Rangel-Frausto M.S., D. Pittet, M. Costigan, T. Hwang, C.S. Davis, & R.P. Wenzel. The natural history of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) A prospective study. *JAMA*. 273, 117-123 (1995)
- 7. Rodriguez J.L., M.C. Miller, W.L. Garner, G.O. Till, P. Guerrero, N.P. Moore, M. Corridore, D.P. Normolle, D.J. Smith, & D.G. Remick. Correlation of the local and systemic cytokine response with clinical outcome following thermal injury. *J Trauma*. 34, 684-695 (1993)
- 8. Singer A.J., L. Berruti, H.C. Thode, & S.A. McClain. Standardized burn model using a multi-parametric histological analysis of burn depth. *Acad. Emerg. Med.* 7, 1-6 (2000)
- 9. Civil D., & W.C. Schwab. The abbreviated injury scale, 1985 revision: a condensed chart for clinical use. *J Trauma*. 28, 87-90 (1988)
- 10. Hansbrough J.F., R.L. Zapata-Sirvent, & V.M. Peterson. Immunomodulation following burn injury. *Clin. North Am.* 67, 69-92 (1987)
- 11. Moss N.M., D.B. Gough, A.L. Jordan, J.T. Grbic, J.J. Wood, M.L. Rodrick, J.A. Mannick. Temporal correlation of impaired immune response after thermal injury with susceptibility to infection in a murine model. *Surgery*. 104, 882-887 (1988)
- 12. Neely A.N., I.A. Holder, & G.D. Warden. Then and now: studies using a burned mouse model reflect trends in burn research over the past 25 years. *Burns*. 25, 603-609 (1999)
- 13. Schwacha M.G., C.P. Schneider, & I.H. Chaudry. Differential expression and tissue compartmentalization of the inflammatory response following thermal injury. *Cytokine*. 17, 266-274 (2002)
- 14. Schwacha M.G., & I.H. Chaudry. The cellular basis of post-burn immunosuppression: macrophages and mediators. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 10, 239-243 (2002)
- 15.O'Riordain M., K.H. Collins, M. Pitz, I.B. Saporoschetz, J.A. Mannick, & M.L. Rodrick. Modulation of macrophage hyperactivity improves survival in a burnsepsis model. *Arch. Surg.* 127, 152-157 (1992)
- 16.Schwacha M.G., & S.D. Somers. Thermal injury induces macrophage hyperactivity through pertussis toxin sensitive and insensitive pathways. *Shock.* 9, 249-255 (1998)
- 17. Cribbs R.K., M.H. Luquette, & G.E. Besner. A standardized model of partial thickness scald burns in mice. *J. Sug. Res.* 80, 69-74 (1998)
- 18. Montagna W., & J.S. Yun. The skin of the domestic pig. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 43, 11-21 (1994)

- 19.Meyer W., R. Schwarz, & K. Neurand. The skin of domestic mammals as a model for the human skin, with special reference to the domestic pig. *Curr. Probl. Dermatol.* 7, 39-52 (1978)
- 20. Vardaxis N.J., T.A. Brans, M.E. Boon, R.W. Kreis, & L.M. Marres. Confocal laser scanning microscopy of porcine skin; implications for human wound healing studies. *J Anat.* 190, 601-11 (1997)
- 21. Sullivan T.P., W.H. Eaglstein, S.C. Davis, & P. Mertz. The pig as a model for human wound healing. *Wound repair regen.* 9, 66-76 (2001)
- 22. Stevenson J.M., R.L. Gamelli, & R. Shankar. A mouse model of burn wounding and sepsis. In: *Methods in Molecular Medicine, vol.78: Wound Healing: Methods and Protocols.* DiPietro L.A., Burns A.L. (eds), Humana Press Inc., Totowa, New Jersey, pp 95-105 (2003)
- 23. Santos Heredero F.X., C. Hamann, M.J.M. Obispo Martin, C. Rodriguez Arias, & S. Coca Menchero. Experimental burn models. *Ann. Burns Fire Disas*. 9, 96-100 (1996)
- 24. Walker H.L., & A.D.Jr. Mason A standard animal burn. *J. Trauma*. 8, 1049-51 (1968)
- 25. Brans T.A., R.P. Dutrieux, M.J. Hoekstra, R.W. Kreis, & J.S. du Pont. Histopathological evaluation of scalds and contact burns in the pig model. *Burns*. 20, S48-S51 (1994)
- 26.Feifel H., G. Bruchelt, & K. Schmidt. Effect of constituents of burned skin and *in vivo* skin burning on the respiratory activity of rat liver mitochondria. *Burns*. 18, 308-12 (1992)
- 27. Suzuki T., T. Hirayama, K. Aihara, & Y. Hirohata. Experimental studies of moderate temperature burns. *Burns*. 17, 443-51 (1991)
- 28. Singer A.J., & S.A. McClain. A porcine burn model. In: *Methods in Molecular Medicine, vol.78: Wound Healing: Methods and Protocols.* DiPietro L.A., Burns A.L. (eds), Humana Press Inc., Totowa, New Jersey, pp 107-119 (2003)
- 29. Abraham E. Effects of stress on cytokine production. *Methods Achiev Exp Pathol.* 14, 45-62 (1991)
- 30. Sevaljevic L.J., M. Glibetic, G. Poznanovic, M. Petrovic, S. Matic, & D. Pantelic. Thermal-injury induced expression of acute phase proteins in rat liver. *Burns*. 14, 280-286 (1988)
- 31.Cerami A. Inflammatory cytolines. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol.* 62, S3-S10 (1992)
- 32. Baumann H.J. & J. Gauldie. The acute phase response. *Immunol Today.* 15, 74-88 (1994)

- 33.Kasama T., K. Kobayashi, T. Fukushima. Production of interleukin-1 like factor from human peripheral blood monocytes and polymorphonuclear leukocytes by superoxide anion: the role of interleukin-1 and reactive oxygen species in inflamed sites. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol.* 53, 439-448 (1989)
- 34. Schluter B., B. Konig, U. Bergmann, F. Muller, & W. Konig. Interleukin-6 a potential mediator of lethal sepsis after major thermal trauma: evidence of increased production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J Trauma*. 31, 1663-1670 (1991)
- 35.Kataranovski M., J. Kucuk, D. Lilic, B. Draskovic-Pavlovic, M. Colic, N. Pejnovic, & A. Dujic. Increased activity of lymph node cells in thermal injury. *Reg Immunol.* 4, 197-203 (1992)
- 36.Ohzato H., M. Monden, K. Yoshizaki, A. Ogata, N. Nishimoto, M. Gotoh, T. Kishimoto, & T. Mori. Systemic production of interleukin-6 following acute inflammation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 197, 1556-1562 (1993)
- 37. Kararanovski M., G. Jovcic, N. Stojanovic, V. Koko, J. Kucuk, N. Pejnovic, & A. Dujic. Epidermal cell production of interleukin-1, interleukin-6 and colony stimulating activity in thermal injury. In: *The Immune Consequences of Trauma, Shock and Sepsis. Mechanisms and Therapeutic Approaches.* Faist E., Baue A.E., Schildberg (eds), Pabst Science Publishers, pp 1287-1291 (1996)
- 38.Kawakami M., N. Kaneko, H. Anada, C. Terai, & Y. Okada. Measurement of interleukin-6, interleukin-10, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha levels in tissues and plasma after thermal injury in mice. *Surgery*. 121, 440-448 (1997)
- 39. Paterson H.M., T.J. Murphy, E.J. Purcell, O. Shelley, S.J. Kriynovich, E. Lien, J.A. Mannick, & J.A. Lederer. Injury primes the innate immune system for enhanced Toll-like receptor reactivity. *J. Immunol.* 171, 1473-1483 (2003)
- 40.Kell M.R., E.G. Kavanaugh, A. Goebel, C.C. Soberg, & J.A. Lederer. Injury primes the immune system for an enhanced and lethal T-cell response against bacterial superantigen. *Shock.* 12, 139-144 (1999)
- 41. Ipaktchi K., A. Mattar, A.D. Niederbichler, L.M. Hoesel, S. Vollmannshauser, M.R. Hemmila, G.L. Su, D.G. Remick, S.C. Wang, & S. Arbabi. Attenuating burn wound inflammatory signaling reduces systemic inflammation and acute lung injury. *J Immunol.* 177, 8065-8071 (2006)
- 42.Sio S.W., M.K. Puthia, J. Lu, S. Moochhala, & M. Bhatia. The neuropeptide substance P is a critical mediator of burn-induced acute lung injury. *J Immunol*. 180, 8333-8341 (2008)
- **Send correspondence to:** Punam Dahiya, Food and Veterinary Administration, Agri-Food and Veterinary Authority of Singapore, 5 Maxwell Road, #02-03, Tower Block, MND Complex, Singapore 069110, Tel: 65-6325-

7540, Fax: 65-6227-6403, E-mail: punam dahiya@ava.gov.sg

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol14.htm